
PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTTEE 
SEPTEMBER 6, 2011 

3:35 P.M. 
 

Chairman Rico called the meeting of the Public Works Committee to order, with Councilpersons 
Ladd,  Scott,  Berz,  Gilbert,  Benson,  Murphy,  and  McGary  present.    City  Attorney  Michael 
McMahan and Shirley Crownover, Assistant Clerk to the Council, were also present. 
 
Others  present  included  Dennis  Malone,  Greg  Haynes,  Larry  Zehnder,  Dan  Johnson,  Gary 
Hilbert, Steve Leach, Bill Payne,  Jerry Stewart, Tony Boyd, Lee Norris, Danny Thornton, Daisy 
Madison, Chief Parker, Chief Dodd, Chief Kennedy, Johnny Feagans, Richard Beeland, John Van 
Winkle, Mark Heinzer, and Paul Page.   
 
On motion  of  Councilwoman  Ladd,  seconded  by  Councilman  Gilbert,  the minutes  of  the 
previous meeting were approved as published. 
 
Mr.  Leach proceeded  to go over agenda  items, beginning with Resolution VII(b), authorizing 
payment  to  Bethel  Bible  School  for  a  permanent  drainage  easement  and  temporary 
construction  easements,  relative  to  Contract  No.  E‐008‐014,  Big  Ridge  Elementary  School, 
Cassandra Smith Road  for property  located at 3001 Hamill Road  in an amount not  to exceed 
$8,845.00.  He stated that this was part of the Safe Routes to School. 
 
Mr. Malone confirmed that  it was Safe Routes to School money and funded at 100%; that we 
are  in  the  right‐of‐way phase and have  to make known  to  the owner about  their  rights;  the 
permanent easement is 100% and the temporary construction easement is 30% of appraisal. 
 
Councilman McGary had a question about Safe Routes to Schools—a basic question. 
 
Councilwoman  Berz  thanked Mr. Malone  for  his  explanation  and  asked  if  this money  was 
project specific and was told “yes”.   She asked  if the $8,000 was not used here  if  it would go 
away and was told “yes”.  She stated that she had a real problem paying for a right to improve 
their property.   She asked  if the volunteer had asked not to be paid,  if the money could have 
been used elsewhere and was told “no”.   Mr. Payne added that  it was site specific, and  if not 
used this way, it would go back to TDOT for another project.  Councilwoman Berz asked if that 
project would be in Chattanooga?  Mr. Payne stated that it would go back to TDOT and it might 
be elsewhere in the State. 
 
Resolution © authorizes an agreement with EPB for a sales order to relocate existing facilities 
within an EPB easement for the Chapman Road Drainage Project,  in an amount not to exceed 
$12,325.67.   Mr. Malone  showed a map off of Shallowford Rd. parallel  to 153;  that  the best 
thing for EPB was a new duct. 
 
 



Page 2 
 

AGENDA ITEMS FOR SEPTEMBER 13, 2011 
 

Resolution 7(a) authorizes applying for a TIGER III Grant relative to the Wilcox Tunnel Project in 
an amount up to $25 million with the City matching funds in the amount of $17 million through 
local and/or other grants.   
 
Mark  Heinzer  stated  that  this  tunnel  was  built  in  1930;  that  the  Council  and  the  Mayor 
recognized  a  need  for  significant  improvement;  that  a  new  tunnel  will  be  designed  for 
consideration;  that  this  Federal  program    is  an  avenue  for  funding  and  requires  a  short 
schedule; that they needed approval to go for this Grant; that there  is a proposed brand new 
tunnel from the eastbound direction with room for pedestrians and bicycles; with the existing 
tunnel, we will make  some  improvements with one  lane with  safe pedestrian access;  that  it 
does help the traffic capacity and provides public transit.  He went on to say that it will cost $40 
million dollars or so for a new tunnel and improvements on the existing one; that this will get us 
up to $25 million and $2 million is already set aside.  We will get $5 million earned for the year 
afterwards.   He explained  that  this Grant  requires  a  20% match, noting  that  the  long  range 
transportation plan  is underway.   He mentioned  that  there  is a pretty quick  timeframe—that 
this  is due on October 31st, and we need to have a funding plan  in place; that they wanted to 
make the Council aware  of the opportunity to apply for this loan. 
 
Mr. Payne noted that Mr. Heinzer is with the Water Quality Group.  He went on to note that $5 
million dollars  is  in  the Capital Plan,  and we  can move  construction  forward with  the TIGER 
Grant; that it is subject to funding approved by the City Council. 
 
Councilman Gilbert  stated  that  there was a  lot of  “toss up” with  the  tunnel;  that what he  is 
hearing today is different from what he had heard before, questioning three lanes rather than 
four.   He  confirmed  that  there would  be  another  tunnel  and we will  have  a walk‐way.   He 
questioned why not make it four lanes rather than one. 
 
Mr. Heinzer stated that that would not meet the State Highway criteria; that four  lanes could 
not have pedestrian  travel and costs would go up  for  significant changes;  that what  is being 
proposed now is a functional change and not a structural change. 
 
Mr. Payne agreed that adding an additional lane requires a cost factor, and we are not doing it 
now; that we only have so much money and the timeframe  is short for the TIGER Grant.; that 
there is a long‐term plan of four lanes in each direction.   
 
Councilman Gilbert stated that he thought we had a choice of tearing  it out for $73,000; now 
they were saying “no”, because of the historical situation.  He asked what had changed? 
 
 
 



Page 3 
 

Mr. Payne responded that the maximum estimate to make the tunnel safe is two lanes 
and remove the pedestrian walk‐way.  Councilman Gilbert still questioned making this a 
temporary four‐lane rather than three.  Mr. Payne explained that height is an issue with 
busses, also fire safety; that there is only so much space in the tunnel on the right—that 
there is not enough space for four lanes.  Councilman Gilbert stated that he appreciated 
their efforts with this Grant, mentioning we were talking about cleaning it up and taking 
out the walk‐way and now this is different.  Mr. Payne explained that the availability of 
the Grant is not feasible unless you build a new tunnel.  Councilman Gilbert asked if this 
would cover four lanes or just a tunnel?  Mr. Heinzer stated that we would improve the 
existing tunnel and there would be a new tunnel.   
 
Councilman Murphy thanked them for their hard work—that this could be “manna from 
heaven”  for  the  additional  work.    He mentioned  large  stakeholders  and  two major 
infrastructures and asked what the Council could do to help; that we needed to get with 
the  appropriate  person  and  get  this  Grant  because  what  we  have  proposed  can 
happen—sooner  or much  later.    He mentioned  Life  Safety  Improvement  to  the  old 
tunnel, noting that the Fire Dept. does not run through the tunnel asking if it would be 
within  a  few  inches or  a  foot  and one‐half?   He  asked  about  the use of  the  existing 
tunnel?  Mr. Heinzer stated that he was not sure about clearance for fire trucks. 
 
Chief Parker  stated  9’6” due  to  curvature—that  a  two‐way  is narrow with  sidewalks; 
that 11 ft. is the average height. 
 
Councilman Murphy mentioned a lot of cement.  Mr. Payne stated that something taller 
is also heavier—that this is a complex issue, mentioning covering all things without gaps.  
Councilman Murphy noted that you can’t raise the roof of the tunnel; that this  is good 
work, and he thanked them all. 
 
Councilman  Benson mentioned  the  road  bed  and  trying  to  lower  the  road  bed.   He 
stated that the question in his mind was is this one step forward; that we had to have a 
pedestrian walkway but two concerned him.  Mr. Heinzer noted that we need it in each 
tube.   Councilman Benson  still questioned  the need  for  a walkway, with Mr. Heinzer 
stating that  if there  is an accident, the Fire Life Code says we have to design this with 
the tunnel. 
 
Mr. Payne stated “too long”; that if we did not have the existing tunnel, we would have 
to make it work; that we are doing this in order to comply with the Code; that it could 
become a dangerous  situation.   Councilman Benson  thought  that we had  three other 
tubes with no walkways, mentioning Stringers Ridge.  Mr. Payne reiterated that with any 
federal money involved, we have to meet the standard of the Code. 
 
 



Page 4   
 

Councilwoman Berz stated that she had a technical question for Daisy, mentioning the 
budget each year—that Capital Budget and the Five Year Plan.  She stated that she did 
not think that this Council could commit for a future Council, asking if we could commit 
now  for  $5 million  dollars  a  year  for  a  certain  number  of  years,  technically?   Ms. 
Madison responded “no”—that it is a Plan. 
 
Councilwoman Berz asked how we made this happen and it not be just “pie in the sky”? 
 
Ms. Madison responded that fundamentally we recognize that this is a Five Year Plan. 
Councilwoman Berz still questioned this Council making a commitment that they legally 
could not make.   Ms. Madison still maintained that it is a Plan. 
 
Mr. Payne added that  it  is based on the current Five Year Plan—that we have to make 
sure we are sound with funding; that they had talked about this  in generalities, stating 
he did not think we were legally bound. 
 
Councilwoman Berz asked if they got the idea—this Council can’t bind future Councils. 
 
Attorney McMahan stated that we issue bonds to finance a project, and then it becomes 
a  binding  commitment.    Councilwoman  Berz  asked  “$5  million  dollars  at  a  time”?  
Attorney McMahan responded that the Federal Government accepts a Five Year Plan in 
good faith. 
 
Mr. Payne added that this is a reimbursement Grant, and we have to have it completed; 
that we will manage the project; that TDOT reviews and returns their portion back. 
 
Councilwoman Berz asked  if  it were only up to a certain amount, and we have to have 
the money?   Mr. Payne  responded  that  it would  take  two years before  the  funds are 
actually needed; that this would start September of 2013; two years before we start the 
commitment.  
 
Councilman McGary  asked  if  they were  asking  for  the  Council’s  blessing  to  approve 
this—that  he  thought  it was  a wonderful  idea.    He  asked  that  someone  refresh  his 
memory and what would happen if we don’t receive this Grant?  Mr. Heinzer responded 
that  the Capital Budget would  be  the  only  funding mechanism.   Councilman McGary 
went  on  to  note  that  according  to  the  funding  chart,  there  is  $5 million  dollars  per 
year—at the best this would be four years; that this Council ends  in 2013 and has only 
one more crack at a budget; that we could be putting this off to another Council, and we 
would not have moved anywhere.   He  felt  that we needed  to make  this a priority  to 
make a start in two years if we have the funding to make this possible; that we needed 
to think through as to what burden we would put on taxpayers; that this  is something 
we need to get serious about before this Council gets out of term.  



Page 5 
 

Ms. Madison noted $30 to $50 million dollars in the Capital Budget every year we retire 
bonds;  we  can  re‐issue  this  level  of  bonds;  that  the  Council makes  the  decision  in 
regards to other projects that are needed; that this had been on the table a long time, 
and the Council had to determine the priority; that the next Council, she felt, would also 
honor the same priority; however this could limit other projects. 
 
Councilwoman Scott asked if we had the land for another tunnel?  She wanted to know 
if we would have  to buy  the  rights  to other  land  and  if  this  cost was  included?   Mr. 
Heinzer confirmed that there would be the need for easements and additional right‐of‐
ways; that as far as this being included in this Budget, the answer was “no”; that some 
property would have to be acquired on top of this. 
 
Adm. Leach stated that we had been talking about this  for a  long time; that everyone 
had  good questions; however  they had  another briefing  to make on  the  rainfall.   He 
asked Mr. Payne to provide this briefing. 

RAINFALL BRIEFING 
 

Mr.  Payne noted  that Monday we  had  rain within  the  entire  southeast.   He  showed 
pictures of our watersheds in Chattanooga, noting that the rain was the heaviest on the 
east.   He provided percentages, noting  that  the earth was dry, and a  lot of  the water 
soaked up in the ground; that the problems they were seeing was that this was beyond 
our capacity to handle the run‐off because there was a lot of debris in the system from 
the April storms.  He stated that we were not expecting major flooding. 
 
Councilman Murphy mentioned  the Airport and  the 1000  year  storm;  that  if  this had 
been in the normal Spring time, we would have been in trouble; that it would be hard to 
get a tee time at Brown Acres.  He thanked Public Works for all their hard work and the 
barricades they provided; that this did break the drought. 
 
Councilman Gilbert asked about the cresting of Chickamauga Creek?   Mr. Payne stated 
that it would be 23.5 ft., which is 5 ½ feet below the 100 Year Flood elevation. 
 
Councilman McGary noted  that  they had  referred  to  the April  storms  and wanted  to 
know how this had affected our water quality?  Mr. Payne explained that it takes oxygen 
out  of  the  water;  that  in  terms  of  the  Permit,  we  would  likely  see  in  after  hours 
sampling; that all is murky; that it will have some impact. 
 
Councilman Murphy asked about sewer overflows?  Mr. Stewart responded that we had 
15 yesterday, but  it was not backed up  in houses.   Mr. Leach noted that the map was 
indicative of our watershed and so unique. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:30 P.M. 


